IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Washington Supreme Court No. 91535~1 Court of Appeals No. 70815-5-I

CITY OF REDMOND, a Washington municipal corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

BRIAN and MARILYN HOWE, husband and wife,

Respondents.

CITY OF REDMOND'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

John E. Glowney, WSBA #12652 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-0900 Attorneys for Petitioner, City of Redmond

D.	Statement of the Case		
	1.	Redmond Acquires Title to the Parcel at Issue to Use for Public Park and Trail Purposes	
	2.	The Howes Negotiated to Purchase the Parking Parcel from BNR	
E.	Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted4		
	1.	Summary of the Argument4	
	2.	The Court Should Clarify That Washington Follows Long-Established and Fundamental Adverse Possession Rules	
	3.	Efforts to Negotiate a Purchase of a Superior Title Negate the Element of Hostility and Defeat an Adverse Possession Claim9	
	4.	Efforts to Purchase Some Other "Outstanding Title, Interest, or Claim" Do Not Negate the Element of Hostility11	
	5.	The Rules Are Different Because Objective Notice Is Given to the Superior Title Holder Under One Set of Facts and Not the Other; The Court of Appeals Lumps the Two Rules Together and Creates Unnecessary Confusion	
	6.	The Court of Appeals Misapplied the Rule in <i>Peeples</i>	
F.	Conclusion		
G.	Appen	dix19	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
Albright v. Beesimer, 733 N.Y.S.2d 251 (App. Div. 2001)
Allen v. Johnson, 831 A.2d 282 (Conn. App. Ct. 2003)
Birtrong v. Coronado Bldg. Corp., 568 P.2d 196 (N.M. 1977)10
Bowen v. Serksnas, 997 A.2d 573 (Conn. App. Ct. 2010)
Cahill v. Morrow, 11 A.3d 82 (R.I. 2011)
Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wn.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984)9, 11, 12
Chi. Mill & Lumber Co. v. Matthews, 260 S.W. 963 (Ark. 1924)
City of Redmond v. Howe, No. 70815-5-I, 2015 Wash. App. LEXIS 175 (Feb. 2, 2015)
Dill v. Westbrook, 75 A. 252 (Pa. 1910)10
Eddy v. Clayton, 44 So. 2d 395 (Miss. 1950)
El Cerrito, Inc. v. Ryndak, 60 Wn.2d 847, 376 P.2d 528 (1962)
Gorman v. City of Woodinville, 175 Wn.2d 68, 283 P.3d 1082 (2012)9

167 S.W.2d 260 (Tex. Civ. App. 1942)1
Hindley v. Metro. Elevated Ry. Co., 85 N.Y.S. 561 (Sup. Ct. Spec. Term 1903)
Horton v. Davidson, 19 A. 934 (Pa. 1890)11
Howard v. Twibell, 100 N.E. 372 (Ind. 1913)11
Ingersoll v. Lewis, 11 Pa. 212 (1849)
ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 774 P.2d 6 (1989)
Jackson v. Pennington, 11 Wn. App. 638, 525 P.2d 822 (1974)
Kerlin v. Tensaw Land & Timber Co., 390 So. 2d 616 (Ala. 1980)
Lamb v. Foss, 21 Me. 240 (1842)11
Lewis v. Watson, 13 So. 570 (Ala. 1893)
Manhattan Sch. of Music v. Solow, 571 N.Y.S.2d 958 (App. Div. 1991)
Miller v. Anderson, 91 Wn. App. 822, 964 P.2d 365 (1998)
Myers v. Beam, 713 A.2d 61 (Pa. 1998)10
Palumbo v. Heumann, 743 N Y S 2d 640 (App. Div. 2002) 10. 15

71 A. 730 (Conn. 1909)11
Peeples v. Port of Bellingham, 93 Wn.2d 766, 613 P.2d 1128 (1980)
Risher v. Madsen, 142 N.W. 700 (Neb. 1913)11
Shanks v. Collins, 782 P.2d 1352 (Okla. 1989)
Silverstone v. Hanley, 55 Wash. 458, 104 P. 767 (1909)
Smith v. Vt. Marble, 133 A. 355 (Vt. 1926)10
State v. Stockdale, 34 Wn.2d 857, 210 P.2d 686 (1949)12, 14
Tidwell v. Strickler, 457 So. 2d 365 (Ala. 1984)10
Other Authorities
125 A.L.R. 825 (1940)6, 12, 14
3 Am. Jur. 2d <i>Adverse Possession</i> § 96 (2015)10
4 Herbert Thorndike Tiffany, <i>The Law of Real Property</i> § 1164 (3d ed. 1975)10
17 William B. Stoebuck & John H. Weaver, Washington Practice: Real Estate: Property Law & & 6 (2004)

A. Identity of Petitioner

The City of Redmond ("Redmond").

B. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished opinion issued by the Court of Appeals for Division I in the case of *City of Redmond v. Howe*, No. 70815-5-I, 2015 Wash. App. LEXIS 175 (Feb. 2, 2015) (copy attached as Appendix A; "Opinion" cites are to slip opinion). Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration and a motion to publish, which were denied on March 2, 2015.

C. Issue Presented for Review

If an adverse possessor negotiates to purchase a superior title, she negates the element of hostility. If the adverse possessor negotiates to purchase some other title, claim or interest, she does not negate the element of hostility. Both rules are followed in Washington depending upon the title involved. As a matter of Washington law, did the Court of Appeals err by lumping the two rules together without regard to the type of title that was at issue and announcing a single "general" rule that "an adverse possession claimant's offer to purchase disputed land does not defeat the hostile nature of the claimant's occupation"?

D. Statement of the Case

1. Redmond Acquires Title to the Parcel at Issue to Use for Public Park and Trail Purposes

Petitioner is the present owner of the former Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Railroad ("BNR") property in Redmond. Redmond plans to utilize the property for park and trail purposes for the benefit and enjoyment of the Redmond public. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 66-69. The BNR property is part of a much larger piece of former railroad property, generally referred to as the Redmond Spur, that was formerly owned by BNR and its predecessor, Northern Pacific Railroad. *Id.* The Redmond Spur runs north to south from a junction with the Woodinville Subdivision in Woodinville, Washington to downtown Redmond, Washington. *Id.* Redmond acquired title to approximately 3.9 miles of the Redmond Spur in June of 2010. *Id.* ¹

In 1990, Kelley Properties sold 16725 Cleveland Street in Redmond (hereinafter, the "Kelley Property"), a commercial property adjacent to the BNR property, to the Howes. CP 53; Brian Howe Deposition ("Howe Dep.") 9:12-20. The Howes used the Kelley Property to operate Sportee's, a sporting goods store. CP 53; Howe Dep. 8. After

¹ BNR transferred the Redmond Spur to the Port of Seattle in 2009, as part of a transaction in which the Port acquired 33 miles of the Woodinville Subdivision, as well as the Redmond Spur, for \$81.4 million. CP 66-69.

the purchase, the Howes began using a part of the BNR property to augment their existing parking lot (hereinafter, the "parking parcel"). CP 1, 65. Twenty-two years later, in April 2012, the Howes first notified Redmond, by letter, that they claimed title to the parking parcel by adverse possession. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals determined that the Howes had entered the parking parcel by permission, but that their use became adverse in about 1993. *See* Opinion at 6-7.

2. The Howes Negotiated to Purchase the Parking Parcel from BNR

Mr. Howe never communicated to BNR that he was claiming to adversely possess the parking parcel. CP 57; Howe Dep. 30:11-21. The Howes' only communication with BNR was to talk about purchasing the parking parcel. *Id.* In or about 1998, the Howes had lunch with Larry Seyda, a representative of BNR, to discuss a possible purchase. CP 55; Howe Dep. 21-25. Bank documents from the Howes showed that they applied, and were approved, for a loan of \$111,600 to finance the purchase of the parking parcel. CP 60-63, 189-192; Howe Dep. Ex. 2.² The bank

² The bank documents state in the first box at the very top of the page that the "purpose" of the loan is for "\$111,600 to acquire additional land for a parking lot." SCP 189; Howe Dep. Ex. 2. At the bottom of the same page, the bank document states that "[i]ncluded in the total amount request is financing to secure additional land the Howe's [sic] will use as a parking lot." *Id.* At the top (continued . . .)

documents show that the Howes and BNR negotiated the purchase of the parking parcel and agreed on the price, and that the agreement was firm enough for the Howes to seek financing. The purchase apparently fell through because the parties could not obtain an acceptable title report for the property. Howe Dep. 25.

The Howes continued using the parking parcel to augment the parking at Sportee's. CP 56; Howe Dep. 28:5-21. In 2006 they sold their property to Cleveland Holdings LLC. CP 30. In 2010, the Howes took the property back in a non-judicial foreclosure sale. *Id*.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

1. Summary of the Argument

When the Howes negotiated with BNR, the then-owner in 1998, to purchase the parking parcel, they negated any claim of hostility. Because the Howes never gave any subsequent notice of hostile possession to BNR or Redmond after 1998, their possession remained non-hostile regardless how long they used the parking lot. Non-hostile possession of property is not adverse and never ripens into title.

^{(...} continued)

of page 4, the bank document states that "[t]he land contiguous, not the Sportee's location, is being sold by Burlington Northern/Santa Fe Railroad as part of a new company policy to sell excess holdings." SCP 192.

The Court of Appeals' erroneous contrary conclusion stems from conflating two well-established rules of adverse possession that apply to two different fact scenarios. The two different rules — which result in opposite outcomes, depending on the title involved — apply when an adverse possession claimant negotiates to purchase a title associated with the property the claimant is attempting to adversely possess. The difference turns on what title the claimant attempts to purchase. As summarized by one court:

"An offer to purchase the legal title, or an acceptance of a conveyance of title, as distinguished from a mere outstanding claim or interest, is a recognition of that title. Although efforts to obtain deeds from other claimants to the property do not disprove the hostile character of a possession, efforts to buy the property from the record owner constitute an acknowledgment of the record owner's superior title, and thus disprove the adverse holding, because there has been no claim of right."

Allen v. Johnson, 831 A.2d 282, 287 (Conn. App. Ct. 2003) (brackets and citation omitted). This key factual difference is dispositive to the outcome of a particular case. In one case the claimant's action acknowledges the superior title; in the other case the claimant's action does not. In the first case, adverse possession is defeated. In the second case, it is not.

Despite the clear factual demarcation between the two rules, the Court of Appeals, *sua sponte*, ³ relying largely on 125 A.L.R. 825 (1940), lumped all attempts to purchase together, regardless of the nature of the title being sought, and erroneously announced a single rule for *all* cases: "[i]n general, an adverse possession claimant's offer to purchase disputed land does not defeat the hostile nature of the claimant's occupation." Opinion at 8.

This statement of a single "general" rule is plainly an erroneous statement of the law of adverse possession in Washington (and elsewhere). Redmond cited Washington authority and numerous other cases to the contrary to the trial court and Court of Appeals (*see infra*). The A.L.R. article relied on by the Court of Appeals deals with purchases or attempts to purchase title, interests or claims from third parties, not the superior title holder. The article was not intended to, and fails to, support a single "general" rule as announced by the Court of Appeals.

There is not a single general rule as the Court of Appeals concluded. This Court's precedent, following well-established adverse

³ The Court of Appeals' resort to the A.L.R. article was not the result of the parties' briefing. *See* Respondent's Opening Brief; City of Redmond's Opening Appellate Brief. This deprived the parties of an opportunity to address the article in briefing or at oral argument. Redmond sought to address the issue in a motion for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied.

possession principles, recognizes two different rules: negotiating to purchase the superior title negates the element of hostility, but negotiating to purchase some other title does not. *See Peeples v. Port of Bellingham*, 93 Wn.2d 766, 775, 613 P.2d 1128 (1980); *Jackson v. Pennington*, 11 Wn. App. 638, 649, 525 P.2d 822 (1974). The Court of Appeals should have followed *Peeples* and denied the Howes' adverse possession claim.

2. The Court Should Clarify That Washington Follows Long-Established and Fundamental Adverse Possession Rules

"Courts will not permit 'theft' of property by adverse possession unless the owner had notice and an opportunity to assert his or her right" *Miller v. Anderson*, 91 Wn. App. 822, 827, 964 P.2d 365 (1998). The Court of Appeals' ruling violates this most basic principle of adverse possession jurisprudence. "[A]dverse possession is an offense against possession, against the legal right of the person entitled to possession." 17 William B. Stoebuck & John H. Weaver, Washington Practice: Real Estate: Property Law § 8.6, at 512 (2004).

The Court of Appeals' ruling deprived BNR and Redmond of the legal right to notice that the Howes' claim to the parking parcel was

⁴ "[N]o presumption exists in favor of the adverse holder because 'possession will be presumed to be in subordination to the title of the true owner." *Id.*(citation omitted).

hostile and adverse. They were deprived of an opportunity to protect their rights. The Court of Appeals' error warrants review to restore Redmond's rights as the owner and assure all property owners in Washington that their possession is secure from adverse claims that lack hostility.

The new general rule announced by the Court of Appeals flies in the face of adverse possession's fundamental rule of notice, throws into doubt this Court's existing precedent, creates unnecessary uncertainty for property owners who may have to deal with an adverse possession claim, almost certainly will lead to more confusion in future cases, and places Washington adverse possession law outside the national mainstream. It warrants review and correction.

Undoubtedly, the factual circumstances underlying the two rules are closely related. Without a clear demarcation of the rules from this Court, the Court of Appeals' conflation of the two rules will sow further confusion on these important adverse possession issues. This unnecessary confusion should, and can, be prevented by a clear statement of the rules by this Court.

This case presents an opportunity to reaffirm and clarify this Court's existing precedent on the existence and the proper application of two different rules, and to bring Washington back into the mainstream of the case-law on this issue. The Court would correct an obvious error on a

fundamental principle of adverse possession, and clarify the rules to the benefit of all property owners in Washington who may have to deal with an adverse possession issue with a neighboring property owner. This Court has not hesitated in the past to provide such guidance on other major issues of adverse possession jurisprudence. *See, e.g., Chaplin v. Sanders*, 100 Wn.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984); *ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell*, 112 Wn.2d 754, 774 P.2d 6 (1989); *Gorman v. City of Woodinville*, 175 Wn.2d 68, 283 P.3d 1082 (2012). This case presents a fundamental issue of the law of adverse possession of significant public interest that warrants review and correction by this Court.

3. Efforts to Negotiate a Purchase of a Superior Title Negate the Element of Hostility and Defeat an Adverse Possession Claim

Washington unequivocally follows an established rule that an adverse possession claimant who negotiates or attempts to purchase the superior title negates the element of hostility. "Where a claimant recognizes a superior title in the true owner during the statutory period, we have held the element of hostility or adversity is not established." *Peeples*, 93 Wn.2d at 775. The rule is firmly established in other jurisdictions and recognized by commentators. *See, e.g., Bowen v.*

Serksnas, 997 A.2d 573, 579 (Conn. App. Ct. 2010); Cahill v. Morrow, 11 A.3d 82, 90-91 (R.I. 2011).⁵

Many other courts state the rule in even stronger terms. "Nothing can more effectually interrupt the running of the statute than an express acknowledgment of the true owner's title." *Dill v. Westbrook*, 75 A. 252, 256 (Pa. 1910); *see also Smith v. Vt. Marble*, 133 A. 355, 358 (Vt. 1926) ("It is well known . . . that a single lisp of acknowledgment by the defendant, that he claims no title fastens a character upon his possession which makes it unavailable for ages" (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)); *Birtrong v. Coronado Bldg. Corp.*, 568 P.2d 196 (N.M. 1977) (where the occupant of the land acknowledges or recognizes the

⁵ See 3 Am. Jur. 2d Adverse Possession § 96 (2015); 4 Herbert Thorndike Tiffany, The Law of Real Property § 1164, at 869 (3d ed. 1975); see also Tidwell v. Strickler, 457 So. 2d 365, 368 (Ala. 1984); Kerlin v. Tensaw Land & Timber Co., 390 So. 2d 616, 619 (Ala. 1980); Manhattan Sch. of Music v. Solow, 571 N.Y.S.2d 958, 960 (App. Div. 1991) ("offer made by one in possession without title to purchase from the record owner during the statutory period is a recognition of the record owner's title and prevents adverse possession from accruing"); Albright v. Beesimer, 733 N.Y.S.2d 251 (App. Div. 2001) (same); Palumbo v. Heumann, 743 N.Y.S.2d 640 (App. Div. 2002) (same); Shanks v. Collins, 782 P.2d 1352, 1355 (Okla. 1989) (recognition by adverse possessor that title was in another as evidenced by adverse possessor's offer to purchase property negated requisite hostility); Eddy v. Clayton, 44 So. 2d 395, 397 (Miss. 1950) (same); Chi. Mill & Lumber Co. v. Matthews, 260 S.W. 963, 964 (Ark. 1924) (same); Myers v. Beam, 713 A.2d 61, 62-63 (Pa. 1998).

title of the real owner and does it before the statutory period has run, he thereby shows that his possession is not adverse).

Because the Howes attempted to buy BNR's superior title, the rule announced in *Peeples* should have applied to defeat the Howes' claim of hostile possession below. The Court of Appeals clearly erred by failing to follow the settled rule adopted in *Peeples and Jackson*.⁷

4. Efforts to Purchase Some Other "Outstanding Title, Interest, or Claim" Do Not Negate the Element of Hostility

A claimant sometimes – desirous to remove a subordinate claim 8 – offers to purchase, or does purchase, some *other* "outstanding title, interest, or claim" from "other claimants" – *not* the superior title – that may relate to the property the claimant seeks to adversely possess. *See*

⁶ See also Ingersoll v. Lewis, 11 Pa. 212 (1849); Paton v. Robinson, 71
A. 730 (Conn. 1909); Lewis v. Watson, 13 So. 570 (Ala. 1893); Lamb v. Foss, 21
Me. 240 (1842); Howard v. Twibell, 100 N.E. 372 (Ind. 1913); Risher v. Madsen, 142 N.W. 700 (Neb. 1913); Horton v. Davidson, 19 A. 934 (Pa. 1890); Hindley v. Metro. Elevated Ry. Co., 85 N.Y.S. 561 (Sup. Ct. Spec. Term 1903); Hatton v. Burgess, 167 S.W.2d 260 (Tex. Civ. App. 1942).

⁷ Redmond has maintained throughout this case that *Peeples* controls. *See* Redmond's Opening Appellate Brief at 1 (Issue No. 1 relating to Assignments of Error), 8, 19-20. The trial court acknowledged the rule as stated in *Peeples*, and would have applied it but for its misreading of *Chaplin*, 100 Wn.2d at 857, as imposing a non-existent restriction that adverse possession conduct was limited to conduct on the property itself. CP 121. The Court of Appeals corrected the trial court's error, but made an error of its own by announcing a single "general" rule that "an adverse possession claimant's offer to purchase disputed land does not defeat the hostile nature of the claimant's occupation." Opinion at 8.

⁸ *Jackson*, 11 Wn. App. 638.

Purchase of, or Offer to Purchase or to Settle, Outstanding Title, Interest, or Claim as Interrupting Continuity of Adverse Possession as Regards Another Title, Interest, or Claim, 125 A.L.R. 825 (1940). These other "titles, interests, or claims" may include claims of heirs, remaindermen, or a variety of other interests in the property. The Court of Appeals cited 125 A.L.R. 825 as the basis for a "general" rule it announced, but as the A.L.R. title shows, the rule discussed there is not a "general" rule as the Court of Appeals proclaimed.

Under the proper facts, Washington, like other courts, has recognized and applied the A.L.R. rule. *E.g., State v. Stockdale,* 34 Wn.2d 857, 210 P.2d 686 (1949), overruled on other grounds by Chaplin, 100 Wn.2d 853; Silverstone v. Hanley, 55 Wash. 458, 460, 104 P. 767 (1909).

⁹ See, for example, *Jackson*, 11 Wn. App. 638, wherein the court recognized the difference between the two rules and fact scenarios and distinguished several of the Washington cases the Court of Appeals relied on here. "These cases recognize the adverse possessor may acquire the claims of third persons as a matter of convenience to eliminate what the adverse possessor considers to be a subordinate interest." *Id.* at 651.

The article outline to 125 A.L.R. 825 breaks down these types of "other claimants" into several general categories: "Particular title, interest, or claim (a) [o]f third person generally; (b) [u]ndivided interest [mostly heirs, remainder-men, tenants in common]; (c) [t]ax title."

5. The Rules Are Different Because Objective
Notice Is Given to the Superior Title Holder
Under One Set of Facts and Not the Other; The
Court of Appeals Lumps the Two Rules
Together and Creates Unnecessary Confusion

The outcomes under the two rules are different – indeed, opposite – because of the express notice actually given, or not given, to the holder of the superior title. Such objective notice lies at the heart of adverse possession principles. *Miller* 91 Wn. App. at 827. A holder of a superior title who is notified by a potential claimant that the claimant acknowledges the superior title has no reason to act to protect her title within the 10-year adverse possession time period, because whatever possession the claimant may have, it is not *hostile* possession, and non-hostile possession cannot ripen into title. ¹¹

In contrast, attempts to purchase, or the actual purchase of, a *third* party's title, claim or interest do not give any notice to the holder of the superior title the claimant seeks to adversely possess. Purchasing or offering to purchase a *third party's* claim, interest or title does not give the superior title holder notice that the claimant's possession is not hostile as to the superior title holder.

¹¹ To hold otherwise would allow the claimant to lull the true owner into inaction by making such an express acknowledgment of non-hostility, while in the meanwhile the clock would be running on the claimant's adverse possession claim. Adverse possession principles squarely reject such scenarios.

Given that there are two well-established rules, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that there is just one general rule that applies in all attempts to purchase was error. This conclusion is squarely at odds with the facts of this case and *Peeples*: "negotiations to purchase the property are evidence that a claimant views his own title as subordinate." 93 Wn.2d at 776.

The three Washington cases discussed by the Court of Appeals do, indeed, fall under the rule stated in the A.L.R. article. But such cases have no precedential application to this case, where the purchaser attempted to buy superior title. This Court in *Peeples* recognized the difference and stated the rule applicable here: "the proper analysis of the element of hostility must be whether the claimant recognizes that another party has superior title." 93 Wn.2d at 776.

Peeples (1980) and Jackson (1974) were decided after the three cases discussed by the Court of Appeals, and therefore state the current state of Washington law on the facts of this case. The Court of Appeals erred by failing to follow Peeples. The record is undisputed that the Howes did not attempt to eliminate a competing third-party title or interest

¹² See El Cerrito, Inc. v. Ryndak, 60 Wn.2d 847, 854, 376 P.2d 528 (1962); Stockdale, 34 Wn.2d 857; Silverstone, 55 Wash. at 460.

for convenience, but negotiated to purchase the superior title to property they were attempting to adversely possess.

6. The Court of Appeals Misapplied the Rule in *Peeples*

The Court of Appeals reasoned that "the Howes at most only made an offer to purchase the property," and that "[s]tanding alone, this is insufficient to constitute the kind of objective conduct necessary to acknowledge superior title in another." Opinion at 12. But *Peeples*, and numerous other courts, hold to the contrary. An offer to purchase the property made to the superior title holder – even standing alone – defeats the hostility element of an adverse possession claim because "negotiations to purchase the property are evidence that a claimant views his own title as subordinate." *Peeples*, 93 Wn.2d at 776; *see also Jackson*, 11 Wn. App. at 648-49; *Kerlin v. Tensaw Land & Timber Co.*, 390 So. 2d 616, 619 (Ala. 1980) (efforts to buy the property from the record owner constitute acknowledgment of his superior title and thus disprove the adverse nature since there is then no claim of right). ¹³

by one in possession without title to purchase from the record owner during the statutory period is a recognition of the record owner's title and prevents adverse possession from accruing"); *Albright*, 733 N.Y.S.2d at 253 (same); *Palumbo*, 743 N.Y.S.2d at 642 (same); *Shanks*, 782 P.2d at 1355 (recognition by adverse possessor that title was in another as evidenced by adverse possessor's offer to (continued...)

The rule upon which *Peeples* relies does not require a written admission of superior title, but only "conduct or words" that in some objective manner acknowledge to the true owner her superior title. Efforts to purchase the superior title constitute "conduct or words" that acknowledge the true owner's superior title. Indeed, any words or conduct that expressly acknowledge the superior title defeats an assertion of *hostile* possession:

"Nothing can more effectively interrupt the running of the [adverse possession] statute than an express acknowledgment of the true owner's title. *** This recognition of another's title may be by acts, as well as words. . . ." ("[T]he possession of one who recognizes or admits title in another, either by declaration or conduct, is not adverse to the title of such other. *** Such an acknowledgment of the owner's title terminates the running of the statutory period, and any subsequent adverse use starts the clock anew.")

Cahill, 11 A.3d at 90 (citations omitted; emphasis and second ellipsis added; other alterations in original); see Bowen, 997 A.2d at 579 ("[A]n adverse possessor may interrupt his or her continuous possession by acting in a way that acknowledges the superiority of the real owner's title. . . ." (internal quotation marks and citation omitted; emphasis added; other alterations in original)); Allen, 831 A.2d at 287 ("efforts to buy the

^{(...} continued) purchase property negated requisite hostility); *Eddy*, 44 So. 2d at 397 (same); *Chi. Mill & Lumber Co.*, 260 S.W. at 964 (same).

property . . . constitute an acknowledgment of . . . superior title" (emphasis added)).

This is the correct outcome: whatever possession a claimant may have, it is not *hostile* possession if the claimant negotiates to purchase the superior title. The holder of the superior title who is so notified has no need to take any action to protect her rights against a party whose possession is not hostile. No adverse possession claim can commence or accrue where the possession is objectively demonstrated not to be hostile, no matter how long the claimant remains in non-hostile possession. The Howes' negotiations to purchase the record title from BNR acknowledged the superiority of BNR's title. Therefore, the Howes' possession was not hostile. Because the Howes admit they never had any other contact with BNR after the 1998 negotiations, they never established hostile possession for any 10 year period.

F. Conclusion

The erroneous "general" rule announced by the Court of Appeals violates adverse possession's most fundamental rule of notice and an opportunity to protect one's rights. It is contrary to settled Washington law and casts doubt on the key legal principles of adverse possession. The error has broad implications to the requirement of notice in adverse possession law and to all offers to purchase title by adverse possessors.

Washington should not stray so far from mainstream adverse possession rules simply because the Court of Appeals misapplied an A.L.R. article. It would serve the broad public interest to set the law straight and confirm that an offer to purchase a superior title negates the element of hostility.