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

E. Argument in Opposition to Review. 

1. Petitioner mischaracterizes the facts to support its argument 

in favor of review. 

Petitioner's entire argument is premised upon a "negotiation" and 

acknowledgment that simply never occurred. Petitioner states "When the 

Howes negotiated with BNR, the then owner in 1998, to purchase the 

parking parcel, they negated the claim of hostility". (See Petitioner's 

Motion at p.4) There is no evidence of a "negotiation" and no evidence of 

a resulting purchase and sale agreement. There was evidence before the 

Court of a discussion between Mr. Howe and BNR representatives to 

potentially purchase some land which may have included the parking 

parcel. CP 185 Moreover, the facts with respect to the discussion taking 

place included the fact that ownership by BNR of the disputed parcel was 

also in dispute. As the Court of Appeals correctly stated in footnote 4: 

.......... The Howe's claim, and BNSF [The Petitioner] does not 
dispute, that they did not proceed with seeking funding because 
BNSF could not provide sufficient proof of ownership. 
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Simply put there was a discussion between the Howe's and BNR sometime 

in 1998 that involved the parcel in dispute, that did not result in any offer to 

purchase, no purchase and sale agreement and appears to have gone 

nowhere in part because ownership of the disputed parcel in BNR could not 

be established. Petitioner has cited no authority based upon the foregoing 

that would cause negation of the Howe's hostile use of the parcel in 

question. Consequently, the very key to Petitioner's argument to suppo1t its 

theory justifying review is not factually supported by the record. 

2. The Court of Appeals decision correctly reflects the rule in 

Washington. 

Assuming for the sake of argument that some "negotiation" did 

occur in 1998, nonetheless the Court of Appeals was correct that such 

discussion did not negate the hostile use by Respondents of the disputed 

parcel in question. 

The Petitioner's sole authority /argument offered in its motion is 

based upon the Comt's decision in Peeples v. Port of Bellingham, 93 

Wn.2d 766, 613 P.2d 1128 (1980). Petitionercontends that the Court of 

Appeals misapplied the rule in Peeples. (See Pettioner's Motion at p. 15) 

Petitioner cites the statement in Peeples, "Where a claimant recognizes a 

superior title in the true owner during the statutory period, we have held 

the element of hostility or adversity is not established .. " Peeples at p. 775. 
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The Court of Appeals discussion of Peeples [and why it does not 

apply] is set out at pages 10-12 of Appendix A. Respondents' will not 

restate the Court of Appeals rational in this response. However, it should 

be pointed out that Petitioner's motion does not address the distinguishing 

features raised by the Court of Appeals in its decision in its motion. 

Factually, unlike the claimant in Peeple's, the Respondent's never sought 

permission to use the disputed strip and never recognized in writing or 

otherwise any superior title of BNR. To the contrary, during the time 

frame in question, Respondents' could not even ascertain who owned the 

disputed parcel. Perhaps most importantly, in Peeples, a myriad of other 

issues led to the reversal by this Court including continuity of usage, the 

openness of the claimant's usage, the exclusivity of the claimant's usage 

and the fact that the claimant in Peeples had on at least one occasion 

requested permission from the title holder to use the property in question. 

In the present case, there are no such issues with respect to any of 

the above elements of adverse possession. It was not disputed that 

Respondents' and their successors used the property at issue for over 

twenty years; the use was exclusive and pervasive; and the use was 

uninterrupted and clearly visible. Moreover, there is no written 

acknowledgement that BNR was the true owner. To the contrary, the 

record reflects that it was unclear as to whom the true owner of the 

-7-



property in dispute was during the informal discussions relied upon by 

Petitioner. 

If the Court were to accept Petitioner's rationale, it would have to 

ignore the well settled principals of this Court in Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 

Wn.2d 853,861,675 P.2d. 431(1984). In Chaplin, the responding party 

argued that a contractual agreement recognized by the Claimant 

acknowledged the superior ownership of the responding party, and negated 

the hostility element of adverse possession. The Chaplin Court held 

otherwise stating: 

Under our holding today the contractual provision is no 
longer relevant. What is relevant is the objective character 
of Hibbard's possession and that ofhis successors in interest. 
Chaplin, at p. 862. 

Any focus on the objective actions of the Respondents' in the case at bar 

doesn't lead to the negation of the hostile nature of their possession. The 

only "objective act" by Respondents was to take a meeting and listen to 

BNR. There were no statements made by Respondents relating to 

Petitioner's title, no offers to purchase and no concessions or other conduct 

from which the Petitioner's predecessor ·in title could have logically 

concluded Respondent's recognized BNR's title. To the contrary, the 

evidence was that title couldn't even be confirmed in BNR. 
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Moreover, immediately after this discussion, Respondents and their 

successor's use continued for another 10+ years. 

F. Conclusion. 

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents' respectfully request this 

Court deny Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review.